FILED Apr 13, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington No. 93046

No. 32367-6-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Custody of

S.F.-T.C., Child

JASMINE CAREY Appellant

and

JANET CAREY, NICK CAREY, LAURA CAREY Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

PATRICIA NOVOTNY ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS 3814 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711 patricia@novotnyappeals.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Laura and Nick Carey, Respondents below, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. See Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners Laura and Nick Carey, seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision entered on February 9, 2016, amended by an order denying reconsideration entered on March 15, 2016, by which the court reversed the Benton County Superior Court's order granting custody of the minor child, S.F.-T.C., to her aunt and uncle, Laura and Nick Carey. A copy of the decision and the order on reconsideration are attached.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where a child has experienced multiple traumas while in the care of her parents, such that her need for stability and security are heightened, does the nonparental custody statute authorize a trial court to maintain custody with third parties in order to protect against the grave harms to which a change of custody exposes the child?
- 2. Where a child's welfare is at stake, may a trial court rely on the testimony of experts and others regarding the risk of future harm, and may the trial court act to limit that risk by granting custody to nonparents?

- 3. Where a child's traumatic past make stability and security especially critical to her well-being and where her relationship to nonparental caregivers provide that stability and security, may the trial court properly consider evidence of those relationships?
- 4. Did the appellate court here apply the correct standard of review of the trial court's extensive findings, entered after a lengthy and highly fact-specific inquiry, or did it engage in appellate fact-finding?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

S.F.-T.C., who will turn twelve in October (D.O.B. 10/08/04: RP 569), has lived with her aunt and uncle since 2012, the year her father committed suicide. She had been in her father's exclusive care since January 2009, when Child Protective Services removed S.F.-T.C. from her mother's care, based on neglect and abuse. Her mother made no effort to see S.F.-T.C. until after the father's death. At that time, the mother was engaging in services offered by the state in a dependency proceeding involving an infant, her third child. Another, older child of the mother's is in the primary care of that child's father, though the mother has visitation.

In her short life, S.F.-T.C. has endured multiple traumatic events, in the trial court's words, an excess of trauma "we would hope no one would experience in the course of their entire lifetime ..." CP 339 (C.4). In addition to neglect and abuse, this history has as a consistent theme the

disruption of a primary caregiving relationship: her mother and father separated, then divorced; the state removed the child from the mother; the child prospered in the care of her father and his fiancé, before they ended their relationship, separating S.F.-T.C. from her "stepmother" and half-brother; then the father committed suicide. In medical terms, per her longtime counselor, Lyn Lang, S.F.-T.C. presents with complex trauma: multiple traumas and caregivers. RP 437-438; see, also, CP 339-340; RP 438-441 (itemizing the traumas). This history of trauma puts S.F.-T.C.'s mental and emotional well-being at risk and heightens her need for stability and security. See, e.g., CP 392; RP 273-277, 350-351, 358-359, 367-368, 469-470, 539-541, 562, 1141-1142.

For the past four years (since March 2012), as well as during much of the father's last year of life, S.F.-T.C. has found a haven with her paternal uncle and aunt, their children, and her grandmother, Janet. S.F.-T.C. considers this to be her primary family unit. RP 365-366, 368. The details of S.F.-T.C.'s history, the trauma and the recent years in which she's thrived, were fully presented and examined by the trial court and are summarized at Br. Respondent, 3-21; see, also, CP 339-340.

The trial court also had the benefit of a G.A.L. report, the testimony of S.F.T.-C's counselor, with expertise in trauma, as well as

¹ Lang has counseled S.F.-T.C. since she was sexually molested in 2008. RP 445.

laypersons. After an eight-day trial, the court issued an extensive ruling, finding by "clear, cogent and convincing evidence that removing [S.F.-T.C.] from her current home at this time would cause actual detriment to her stability, well-being, growth and development." CP 340 (emphasis added). Specifically, the court found "it is important to [S.F.-T.C.'s] emotional and psychological well-being for her to remain where she is and that to remove her, considering all of the traumas that she has undergone to this point in her life, would be an actual detriment to her." CP 340. Though S.F.-T.C. is doing "amazingly well for everything that she has gone through," her present stability and security "are very important to her continued well-being," such that "to remove her from the home that she is in at this time would detrimentally affect that security and safety and her well-being." CP 340.

Division Three reversed this decision, misreading the trial court's decision as merely concerned with preserving, for its own sake, the relationship between S.F.-T.C. and her uncle and aunt. Slip Op., at 14-18, citing *In re Custody of B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d 224, 236, 315 P.3d 470 (2013) and *In re Custody of J.E.*, 189 Wn. App. 175, 179, 356 P.3d 233, 240 (2015), as amended (Aug. 6, 2015). Moreover, Division Three erroneously rejected the extensive evidence of potential harm to the child

as "speculative," asserting that "[i]mplicit in *B.M.H.*'s discussion of speculation is the fact that even where speculation is permitted, it often will provide an insufficient basis for finding actual detriment." Slip Op., at 19 n.3. Finally, Division Three ruled the evidence of the child's relationship with her custodians to be irrelevant to an analysis of detriment, claiming instead such evidence could only bear on a "best interests" analysis. Slip Op., at 17 ("any focus on a bond between a child and the petitioner for nonparental custody misses the mark"). Because each of these holdings contravenes Washington law in a way that places vulnerable children, including S.F.-T.C., at risk, the Careys seek review in this Court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The nonparental custody statute is one mechanism by which the state seeks to fulfill its duty to protect children. Where justified by "extraordinary circumstances," the statute authorizes the court to grant custody of a child to nonparents. As our cases explicitly instruct, such an order is justified where the child presents with particular needs a parent cannot meet, no matter the parent's fitness. That is the case here, where what the child needs is continuity in caregiver relationship and protection against risk for any additional trauma, as the trial court correctly recognized, completely consistent with this Court's instruction that

"continuity of psychological relationships and family units [is] particularly important" where children present with these special needs. *B.M.H.*, 179 Wn. 2d at 238. The appellate court's reversal of that order flatly ignores the relevant precedent, including *In re Marriage of Allen*, 28 Wn. App. 637, 626 P.2d 16 (1981) and *In re Stell*, 56 Wn. App. 356, 366, 783 P.2d 615, 620-21 (1989), cases this Court recently endorsed. *B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d at 236. This conflict with established law justifies review under both RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Moreover, this substantial departure from precedent in the subject of nonparental custody can only create confusion among the trial courts and the bar over Division Three's new doctrinal approach to nonparental custody, which utterly frustrates the Legislative intent to provide another backstop of protection for some of the state's most vulnerable children. For this reason, this case also presents an issue of substantial public import. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The appellate court also ignored precedent on the role speculation necessarily plays in the fact-finding process. Here, the assessment of risk includes speculation, because its subject is what harm might happen in the future; but the speculation extrapolates from the child's history, the child's recent history, during which she has thrived, and the plentiful scientific evidence on how adverse child experiences pose particular risks to

children, evidence our Legislature has in fact codified. RCWA 70.305.010. This Court expressly endorsed this method of proof in *B.M.H.*, noting that "[c]oncern about future action is not necessarily impermissibly speculative for findings of actual detriment." 179 Wn.2d at 239. Again, RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2) apply.

Finally, Division Three failed to extend any deference to the trial court's factual findings, a failure that conflicts with established law on the standard of review. *In re Dependency of K.D.S.*, 176 Wn.2d 644, 652, 294 P.3d 695, 699-700 (2013) (appellate court generally upholds a trial court's factual findings "if they are supported by substantial evidence"). In particular, for example, the trial court, taking together all the evidence regarding risk of harm to the child, concluded custodial disruption would cause S.F.-T.C. actual detriment. The Court of Appeals reweighed this evidence to conclude otherwise, contrary to established law on the standard of review. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2). For these reasons, the Careys respectfully ask this Court for review.

1. WHAT "EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES" JUSTIFY CUSTODY IN THIRD PARTIES?

The Legislature intended the nonparental custody statute to be a powerful mechanism for beneficial interventions in the lives of children.

The statute would permit third-party custody where the child's "best

interests" require. RCW 26.10.100. However, this Court, in respect of parents' constitutional rights, has read into this standard a requirement to prove a parent's unfitness or detriment to the child's growth or development. See In re Custody of R.R.B., 108 Wn. App. 602, 613, 31 P.3d 1212, 1218 (2001) (noting history). Within that heightened standard, the statute remains a vital force for achieving the legislative purpose, as can be seen in numerous cases. See, e.g., In re Mahaney, 146 Wn.2d 878, 894, 51 P.3d 776 (2002); Allen, supra; Stell, supra; R.R.B., supra. See, also, In re Custody of Shields, 157 Wn.2d 126, 150, 136 P.2d 117 (2006) (remanding for trial on the stepmother's nonparental custody petition under proper legal standard of detriment and allowing for possibility that stepmother should continue in primary caregiver role despite fit mother).

Yet Division Three appears to read this Court's recent pronouncement in *B.M.H.* as a further narrowing of the statute's scope, concluding the statute does not apply even where, as here, the facts map precisely the "extraordinary circumstances" of our precedent, and requiring instead that the child presently demonstrate a "disability" or "behavioral problems" beyond the parent's ability to manage. Slip Op., at 18-19. This misreads our law, which simply does not circumscribe the detriment standard to one set of facts, but, rather, recognizes detriment

"must be determined on a case-by-case basis." B.M.H., 179 Wn.2d at 235 (citing Shields, 157 Wn.2d at 143 (quoting Allen, 28 Wn. App. at 649)).

Moreover, Division Three's constricted reading defies common sense. After all, it is the law's goal to <u>prevent</u> harm to the child. *In re Custody of E.A.T.W.*, 168 Wn.2d 335, 346, 227 P.3d 1284 (2010) ("[c]hildren must be protected"). Here, the trial court acted to preserve the child's sanity – to spare her one more disruption and to protect against the risks posed by a change of custody, and thereby prevent harm to her. In short, with great care and clear understanding of the law, the trial court used the statute for its beneficial purpose. CP 339. By contrast, Division Three reads into the statute a standard that all our precedent would fail, thus completely frustrating the Legislature's intent.

2. WHAT ROLE DOES SPECULATION PLAY IN EVALUATING POTENTIAL HARMS TO CHILDREN AND IN THE COURT'S DUTY TO ACT TO PREVENT SUCH HARM?

In these difficult cases, trial courts properly rely on neutral experts and other witnesses "to help ... reach an objective, rather than subjective, evaluation of the issue." *Stell*, 56 Wn. App. at 368. Often, as is the case here, the relationship between the child and one or more of these experts is close and ongoing. These professionals helped the court understand not merely the facts of the multiple traumas experienced by S.F.-T.C., but the

significance of them to her well-being and her future and the related significance of stability and security in her placement. CP 339-340. Yet, Division Three rejected this evidence, faulting the trial court for relying on "speculation." Slip Op., at 19 n.3. Despite the opinions of experts, the guardian ad litem, and other witnesses that returning S.F.-T.C. to her mother's custody posed actual risks to S.F.-T.C.'s welfare, the appellate court found instead a lack of "specific facts" for the trial court's actual detriment finding. Slip Op. at 17. Dismissing or discounting the bulk of the evidence, the appellate court compared this case to one where a detriment finding was based on one incident that occurred five years earlier (Slip Op., at 19 n.3), citing *In re Dependency of T.L.G.*, 139 Wn. App. 1, 156 P.3d 222 (2007), which this Court has distinguished from our precedent by that very fact. *B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d at 238.

This holding by Division Three could not be more wrong or dangerous. Notably, the testimony of these witnesses tracks precisely findings made by our Legislature that adverse childhood experiences are "a powerful common determinant of a child's ability to be successful at school and, as an adult, to be successful at work, to avoid behavioral and chronic physical health conditions, and to build healthy relationships." RCW 70.305.005. Tragically, S.F.-T.C. has endured nearly all the adverse experiences identified in the statute: child sexual abuse; child emotional

abuse; child emotional or physical neglect; alcohol or other substance abuse in the home, mental illness; depression, or suicidal behaviors in the home; witnessing intimate partner violence; and parental divorce or separation. RCWA 70.305.010. The Legislature found these experiences to be "indicators of severe childhood stressors and family dysfunction that, when experienced in the first eighteen years of life and taken together, are proven by public health research to be powerful determinants of physical, mental, social, and behavior health across the lifespan." *Id.*

This is science, not speculation, and it guided the experts here when they concluded S.F.-T.C. is at risk of long-term consequences should she suffer another caregiver disruption. See, e.g., RP 1141-1142; see, also, RP 539 (guardian ad litem concluding change of custody "would cause detriment" to S.F.-T.C.).

Likewise, this Court understands the relevance and probative value of evidence "about future possibilities," which may be "necessary ... in making determinations about domestic relations." *B.M.H.*, 179 Wn. 2d at 238 (emphasis added). Concern for future harm is not impermissibly speculative. *Id.*, at 239. Rather, respect for well-grounded predictions reflects the court's concern for prevention of harm. Thankfully, the "trial court need not wait for actual harm to accrue" before it can act to protect against that harm." *Katare v. Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 36, 283 P.3d 546,

552 (2012). "Rather, the required showing is that a danger of ... damage exists." *Id.*, *citing In re Marriage of Burrill*, 113 Wn. App. 863, 872, 56 P.3d 993 (2002) ("evidence of actual damage is not required"). Division Three ignored these teachings, to this child's peril.

Here, the extraordinary history of trauma experienced by S.F.-T.C. while in the custody of her parents, put her at actual risk of future harm, as the evidence established and as our Legislature expressly declares to be true. Indeed, these facts distinguish this case from the cases relied upon by Division Three, including *Custody of J.E., supra*, where the child benefitted from an early placement in a stable environment. Here, quite unlike J.E., S.F.-T.C. endured one trauma after another before finding safety and stability in the home of her aunt and uncle. The experts concluded that disrupting this placement jeopardizes her welfare, a conclusion expressly endorsed by the Washington Legislature and well within the trial court's fact-finding authority.

3. IS EVIDENCE OF A CHILD'S RELATIONSHIP TO NONPARENTAL CAREGIVERS ALWAYS IRRELEVANT TO A TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION OF THE BASES FOR NONPARENTAL CUSTODY?

Division Three rejected as irrelevant the evidence of S.F.-T.C.'s relationship with her aunt, uncle, grandmother, and step-siblings. Slip Op., at 17. Washington law does not agree. For example, in the first

nonparental custody case, *Marriage of Allen, supra,* the court found it would be detrimental to remove the child from the stepparent, who provided important development opportunities, even though the legal parents were fit. Similarly, in *Stell, supra,* the trial court erred when it failed to consider evidence that disruption of the child's relationship with his aunt, who had been his primary, consistent caretaker, would be detrimental, though the father was fit. In other words, it was the "change of custody" the expert predicted would be detrimental. 56 Wn. App. at 370. Likewise, in *R.R.B., supra,* the child's history of trauma, mental health issues, and stabilization in the care of custodians supported the trial court's decision not to change custody.

Here, similarly, because of the child's traumatic history, disrupting the stability of her current life poses a risk of further serious harm to her, and the stability of her current life pivots on the strength of her relationship with the Careys. The risk to S.F.-T.C. inheres in disrupting that relationship, just as the trial court found: "there would be actual detriment to [S.F.-T.C.]'s growth and development if removed from Nick and Laura Carey..." CP 339. In other words, the "special need" S.F.-T.C. presents (see Slip Op., at 18) is the need to remain in the certain and stable environment where she feels and is safe and secure.

As discussed above, this is the same kind of "extraordinary circumstance" compelling the results in *Stell* and *Allen, R.R.B.* and *Mahaney*. In protecting a child in these circumstances, the trial court does not merely indulge a preference for one environment over another under a "best interests" analysis, as in *Custody of J.E.*, 189 Wn. App. at 188. Rather, the custodial environment is essential to preventing harm to the child. Completely consistent with Washington law, the trial court focused on the potential for harm to the child arising from destabilizing her life, which substantial evidence proved a change of custody would do. Based upon substantial evidence, evaluated under the correct burden of proof, the trial court acted within its authority and discretion to prevent that harm, thus fulfilling the purpose served by the nonparental custody statute.

4. DIVISION THREE ENGAGED IN APPELLATE FACT FINDING.

Decisions about the custody of children pose especially difficult challenges to trial courts, a difficulty equal to the importance of such decisions. The trial court must intensely scrutinize the unique facts of each case to determine, within the legal framework, the best outcome for the child. Or, as this Court has noted, "[w]hether placement with a parent will result in actual detriment to a child's growth and development is a highly fact-specific inquiry ..." *B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d at 235 (citing *Shields*,

157 Wn.2d at 143 (quoting *Allen*, 28 Wn. App. at 649)). For these reasons, such decisions are accorded great deference on review. *In re Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809-810, 699 P.2d 214 (1985).

In this case, Division Three not only reads too narrowly the substantive test for nonparental custody, as discussed above, it second guesses the trial court's fact-finding. The appellate court's role, as this Court again recently reiterated, is "to review the findings supporting the conclusion the trial court did reach, not to look for evidence supporting an alternate conclusion the court could have reached." *Mueller v. Wells*, 185 Wn.2d 1 (2016) (¶ 27).

Here, the trial court found persuasive the extensive evidence from the guardian ad litem (Scraper), the counselor (Lang), the school counselor (Holden), the mental health investigator (Leifhelt), and the other witnesses. CP 339. Division Three favored other evidence. See, e.g., Slip Op., at 13-19. But this is precisely the wrong approach, since "trial courts are better equipped than multijudge appellate courts to resolve conflicts and draw inferences from the evidence." *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 352, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). Here, the trial court's extensive findings with respect to the child's early adverse experiences and the associated risk to the child from disrupting her current stable home were mostly undisputed. The child's history and her ongoing and heightened

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