No. 93046-5

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE May 16, 2016, 12:29 RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 32367-6-III

In re the Custody of S.F.T.C.,

Child,

Janet Carey, Nick Carey, Laura Carey,

Respondents,

and

1

Jasmine Rose Carey, Mother, Kyle Carey, Father, Deceased

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Jasmine Carey made some serious mistakes in her young life. She started taking meth at age 12 (about the same time that her father started beating her); she was seriously dating at age 13, and married her drug-taking, abusive boyfriend at age 16; she had her first child (S – whose custody is at issue here) at age 18; her second child (B) four years later. She also faced serious and painful health issues that overwhelmed her. She lost custody of S and B.

When she had her third child (J) taken at birth into the dependency process, she finally hit bottom. She started working very hard at the court-ordered services; she found the strength (and the support) to kick the drugs; she got her life together and beat the dependency, retaining custody of J. And even though her abusive ex-husband committed suicide, and she faced many health and legal problems, she stayed the course. The trial court found that Jasmine is now a fit parent who is able to care for her children.

But the trial court left S with an aunt and uncle. Jasmine successfully fought them for increasing visitation during the custody battle. She successfully fought on appeal for her constitutional right as a fit parent to take care and custody of S. She just wants to raise her children in peace. This Court should quickly deny review.

RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the Court of Appeals properly protect a fit mother's fundamental right to care and custody of her child by carefully following this Court's decisions in In re Custody of A.F.J., 179 Wn.2d 179, 183-84, 314 P.3d 373 (2013); In re Custody of B.M.H., 179 Wn.2d 224, 235, 315 P.3d 470 (2013); In re Custody of Shields, 157 Wn.2d 126, 128, 136 P.3d 117 (2006); In re Custody of Smith, 137 Wn.2d 1, 13, 969 P.2d 21 (1998), aff'd on narrower grounds sub nom. Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000); and In re Welfare of Sumey, 94 Wn.2d 757, 762, 621 P.2d 108 (1980) as well as controlling Court of Appeals decisions like In re Custody of J.E., 189 Wn. App. 175, 356 P.3d 233 (2015), In re Custody of R.R.B., 108 Wn. App. 602, 621 P.3d 1212 (2001); In re Custody of Stell, 56 Wn. App. 356, 783 P.2d 615 (1989); and In re Marriage of Allen, 28 Wn. App. 637, 626 P.2d 16 (1981)?

2. Does an unpublished decision closely following these precedents to protect a fit parent's fundamental rights raise an important issue that this Court should decide – yet again?

3. Should this Court quickly deny review so that this child promptly can be further reintegrated into her fit mother's home?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set forth in the Unpublished Opinion at 2-4, and detailed in the Brief of Appellant at 4-14. They are summarized here.

A. Jasmine Carey was married at age 16, had a daughter (S) at age 18, and divorced the father at age 21, largely due to domestic violence and abuse.

Jasmine Carey was born on January 1, 1986. 1RP¹ 76. Her daughter S was born on October 8, 2004. RP 1280. Jasmine² was then 18 years old. RP 668. She had married the child's father, Kyle Carey, 18 days after her 16th birthday. *Id.* Their relationship began when he was 18, and she was 13. RP 667.

Their relationship was stormy. *See, e.g.*, RP 668-70. On various occasions Kyle punched her, slapped her, and threw a butcher knife at her, the latter two while she was holding S. RP 669. Kyle also stabbed Jasmine in the stomach with a fork. *Id*.

After about a year they separated. RP 670-71. Aside from the abuse, this was partly precipitated by Jasmine finding Kyle in bed with another woman. *Id.* But it did not help that Kyle's best friend, William Higgins, had come to live with them, together with Higgins'

¹ The 1/30 a.m. RP is numbered separately. We cite it 1RP ___.

² First names are used to avoid confusion, intending no disrespect.

daughter, whom Kyle kept asking to "sleep" with. RP 670-72. Jasmine went to stay with her sister. RP 671.

It also did not help that Kyle and Jasmine took drugs together, including methamphetamine. RP 674-75. Jasmine had started using meth at age 12. CP 210. This was around the same time that her father started beating her. CP 214-15.

Despite various efforts to save the relationship, Jasmine and Kyle were divorced in March 2007. RP 684. Despite testing positive for meth during the dissolution proceedings, Jasmine was awarded custody of S. *Id.*; RP 577; Ex 51 (Parenting Plan at 5).

B. Jasmine had serious health issues that caused her a great deal of pain and debilitated her, and her failures to properly clean her home ultimately resulted in her loss of custody of her daughters in 2009.

Beginning in 2006, Jasmine began suffering from endometriosis, ovarian cysts, and interstitial cystitis. RP 1172-73. These painful conditions required numerous painful surgeries. RP 1174-76. This lasted into 2009 and beyond, and was debilitating to her, leaving her unable to cope. CP 246; RP 1176-78.

During this difficult time, Jasmine became pregnant with her second daughter (B) who was born on February 4, 2008. RP 1174. Due to her illnesses, Jasmine was on morphine, Dilaudid, Xanax, Amitryptiline, Hydroxyzine, and perhaps other drugs. CP 210, 221-22. B was born with prescription drugs in her system. CP 269-70.

Also during this difficult time, S disclosed to Jasmine on January 31, 2008 that Kyle's friend Higgins had sexually assaulted her. 1RP 46; RP 1181-82; Ex 97. Jasmine sought and obtained temporary and permanent protection orders for S in February and March 2008. Ex 97. She initiated and cooperated with the investigation, and was concerned for S's safety. 1RP 61-62. Higgins was convicted. CP 160.

On December 20, 2008, the police received a report that led them to investigate Jasmine's apartment, which they found to be in disarray. 1RP 51, 53. The officer filed a report with CPS. 1RP 55-56. The children were eventually placed in protective custody. RP 89-90. The court eventually gave Kyle custody of S, and Jasmine substantially failed to visit or support her for several years. CP 190.

C. Jasmine began to turn her life around in 2012, successfully engaging in many services, developing a nurturing relationship with J, and succeeding in having J's dependency proceeding dismissed.

Jasmine's daughter J was born on January 4, 2012, and a dependency was filed immediately. This was Jasmine's turning point.

RP 1206-07. She began to work very hard at the services the court ordered her to attend. RP 1206-07.

Each of the counselors from the various agencies supported Jasmine's strong recovery. *See, e.g.*, CP 338 (F/F 2.7B.4); RP 695, 786-87, 789, 803, 810-11, 819, 830-31, 869-70, 872, 876-77, 880, 901-02, 917-18, 1091-92. Specifically, Stephanie Mooney is a group counselor with whom Jasmine did very well, and was even considered a leader looked-up-to by other patients. RP 691-93, 695. Her drug tests were all clean. RP 695-96. She was very motivated, developed insight into her problems, and is dedicated to doing whatever is necessary to prevent a relapse. RP 697-98. She successfully completed her treatment, is a low risk for relapse, and has the tools and support system to maintain her new, clean and stable lifestyle. RP 699-700.

Tamara Tanninen was a private counselor for Jasmine in 2012. RP 1087-89. She was in Jasmine's home 21 times over fivemonths, and it was always clean, safe, and appropriate. RP 1090. This did not change after J was returned to the home: Jasmine was attentive to J's needs and Tanninen had no concerns about her parenting. RP 1091-92. Jasmine is a good mom; J is very bonded to her. RP 1092-93.

Julie Chacon works with Safe Baby, Safe Mom. RP 812. Jasmine enrolled in the program in January 2012, and Chacon began working with her in January 2012. RP 815, 820. Chacon has no concerns about J's development or well-being in her mother's "very nurturing" care. RP 816-17, 819, 828-29.

Julie Wilde is a licensed mental health counselor at Catholic Family & Child Services. RP 863-64. Jasmine was initially assessed as having (among other things) social phobia and amphetamine dependence in remission. RP 866. In counseling, Jasmine acknowledged her relapses during her pregnancy and expressed remorse. RP 913. Throughout her treatment and services from February 2012 to February 2013, Wilde saw improvements as Jasmine's anxiety reduced. RP 872. She is focused on improving her life and that of her family. RP 917. Wilde saw Jasmine for an assessment in February 2013, but saw no further trouble with social phobia, and recommended no further counseling. RP 880.

Petra Day was a Guardian ad Litem for the Family Drug Court in Benton/Franklin County. RP 783. Day saw Jasmine in her home six or seven times over six months, which was always clean and neat and appropriate for the baby. RP 786. Day never had any concerns that Jasmine could not meet J's needs. RP 787. Jasmine accepted

and acknowledged her past and how it related to her future behavior. RP 803. Day recommended that the dependency be dismissed, and it was. RP 789, 791.

Jasmine confirmed all of her providers' observations. *See, e.g.*, 1222-28. She has learned from her mistakes. *Id.* As further discussed *infra*, the trial court found her a fit parent. CP 338.

D. Kyle committed suicide in March 2012, but Jasmine did not relapse and gained custody of J, and has obtained steadily increasing visitation with S over petitioners' objections.

Kyle had committed suicide in March 2012. CP 81, 261-62. Kyle's mother, Janet Carey, and his brother Nick Carey, and Nick's wife Laura Carey (collectively, petitioners) brought this action on March 15, 2012. CP 1-7. Despite Kyle's suicide, ongoing dependencies, illnesses and surgeries, and other ongoing stresses like this action, Jasmine stayed the course, completed her services, and maintained custody of J and her sobriety, as discussed above.

Despite her progress, petitioners steadfastly refused to allow visitation with S until February 2013. RP 1199-1200; CP 4, 27 (¶ 1.9), 173. Jasmine brought a series of motions in this action increasing her visitation, over petitioners' objections. CP 74-79. Jasmine and S are bonded, and S thinks of Jasmine as her mom. BR 4.

E. The trial court found Jasmine a fit parent who is able to parent her child – a child who is doing remarkably well despite her past traumas – but nonetheless gave custody to the aunt and uncle.

The case went to trial in March 2013, but that was a mistrial. Jasmine twice moved to dismiss because she is a fit parent and there is and can be no legally adequate showing of actual detriment to S from being placed with her now. CP 29-35, 68-72. The case went to trial again in late September 2013, lasting eight court days. CP 300-

20. The court heard from roughly 40 witnesses. Id.

The trial court found Jasmine a fit parent – by any standard. CP 338. It found that "Ms. Carey has made great strides in dealing with those [past] issues" and is now "able to safely provide for her children." *Id.* It also found that S is "doing amazingly well for everything that she has gone through" CP 340 (F/F 18). Yet it found that removing S from her aunt and uncle's primary care would cause actual detriment, based primarily on the testimony of Susan Holden, a school counselor, and Michele Leifheit and Lyn Lang, child counselors. *See* CP 339-41.

F. The Court of Appeals found no extraordinary circumstances justifying depriving a fit parent of her constitutional right to parent her child.

The Court of Appeals carefully followed this Court's controlling precedents. Unpub. Op. at 6-8 (citing, *inter alia*, *B.M.H.*, *Shields*,

Smith, *Sumey*). It also reviewed and followed the relevant Court of Appeals decisions. *Id.* (citing, *inter alia*, *J.E.*, *R.R.B.*, *Stell*, and *Allen*). Petitioners' claims to the contrary are transparently false.

Similarly transparent are petitioners' claims that the Court of Appeals either disregarded the facts, or engaged in appellate factfinding. To the contrary, because it does "not reweigh evidence or witness credibility, [the Court focused] on the trial court's findings and the evidence it found credible." Unpub. Op. at 10-14. It thus addressed the testimony of the three witnesses upon whom the trial court expressly relied (CP 339-40). Unpub. Op. at 10-14.

The Court noted that Holden acknowledged she had not seen or spoken to the child since 2012. *Id.* at 10 (see RP 277-78). It also noted that Leifheit said only that removing the child from the petitioners' care *could* be detrimental, and *could* exacerbate the impact of prior traumas; but Leifheit spent only a few hours with the petitioners, and no time at all with Jasmine. *Id.* at 11. As for Lang, she spoke to the cumulative effect of trauma, but did not say that placing the child with her fit mother could cause actual detriment. *Id.* at 12-14. Lang noted that the child was enjoying visitations with her mother, that she (Lang) never inquired about the mother's current stability, and that the child is doing "amazingly well" despite the

traumas she has experienced. *Id.* The trial court itself found that Lang lacked "objectivity" regarding "some of her opinions and positions in her actions in regard to this case." CP 340.

Based on the testimony that the trial court credited in its findings, and "even under the deferential standard of review," the appellate court held that the findings were insufficient to deprive a fit parent of her fundamental right to custody of her child under the "controlling" decisions, *B.M.H.* and *J.E.* Unpub. Op. at 14-19.

Continuing their fight to keep Jasmine from her daughter, petitioners seek discretionary review here.

ARGUMENT

A. The Unpublished Opinion scrupulously follows this Court's and its own relevant precedents.

While acknowledging that both decisions came down after the trial court ruled, the Court of Appeals correctly held that this Court's "decision in *B.M.H.* and our own recent decision in *J.E.* are controlling." Unpub. Op. at 14 & n.2. In *B.M.H.*, this Court reversed a trial court's determination – based on a GAL's opinion³ – that because separating a child from the long-time care of his stepfather

³ Arguably, a GAL's testimony is stronger than that of the counselors relied upon here, as a GAL directly represents the child's interests. The evidence here is thus weaker than that rejected in both *B.M.H.* and *J.E.*, and there was no GAL in this case.

"would cause actual detriment to the minor child's growth and development," he could take custody away from the biological mother. 179 Wn.2d at 239. This Court held that these circumstances – substantially similar to the facts and trial court decision in this case – are "not the kind of substantial and extraordinary circumstances that justify state intervention with parental rights." *Id.* Simply put, unlike in *Allen* or *Stell*, where (as here) the child has no special needs that the mother cannot meet, her fundamental right to parent is paramount to an alleged need for stability in maintaining existing relationships.⁴ While S *may* face difficulties in the future due to the traumas she has experienced, there is no evidence in the record that Jasmine is not capable of helping her deal with them if they arise.

The Court of Appeals also correctly noted that "*J.E.* is even more clearly on point." Unpub. Op. at 16. There, the child lived with his aunt and uncle from age two to age 11, while his mother struggled with mental illness, and his natural parents were dealing with his sister's difficult terminal illness. *Id.* at 16. Similarly to this case, the trial court determined that the biological parents were fit, but again relied on GAL testimony that separating the child from the aunt and

⁴ Although the Court of Appeals did not mention it, the companion case to *B.M.H.*, *A.F.J.*, is also quite instructive here. See BA 17-18; Reply 6, 12.

uncle would cause him actual detriment. *J.E.*, 189 Wn. App. at 181. As here, the trial court had effectively "applied the too-low standard of the 'best interests' of J.E." Unpub. Op. at 17; *see also* CP 338 (using an improper "best interests" finding to erroneously deprive Jasmine of her fundamental rights). As here, nothing showed that the fit biological parents were incapable of caring for the child's needs, which were not extraordinary. *Id*.

Correctly synthesizing *B.M.H.* and *J.E.*, the Court of Appeals (Siddoway, J., writing) held that the trial court's focus on the nonparents' "bond" with S is misplaced (*Id.* at 17):

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